IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

2008-	CA-	01	99	4
	~			_

ALICE VANLANDINGHAM

APPELLANT

vs.

GREGORY PATTON, M.D. and OXFORD OBSTETRICS AND GYNECOLOGY ASSOCIATES, P.A.

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAFAYETTE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

ALAN D. LANCASTER JOHN M. MONTGOMERY LISTON/LANCASTER PLLC P. O. Box 645 WINONA, MS 38967

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issues presented in this appeal may be correctly framed thus:

- 1. Did the trial court commit reversible error by not excusing Juror #27 and Juror #26 from the venire for cause?
- 2. Did the Circuit Court commit reversible error by denying Vanlandingham's motion to strike the testimony of Dr. Steven Stain because his expert opinions were not based upon a reasonable medical probability or upon the applicable standard of care?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A.

NATURE OF THE CASE

Alice Vanlandingham filed suit against Dr. Gregory Patton and Oxford Obstetrics & Gynecology Associates, P.A. for medical malpractice, alleging that Dr. Patton negligently performed an exploratory laparotomy, a bilateral salpingooophorectomy, and lysis of adhesions, resulting in perforation of her colon. As a result Ms. Vanlandingham developed peritonitis, sepsis, and pulmonary failure. She also developed endocarditis, an infection in her heart, and underwent surgery in Memphis to replace a heart valve.

Ms. Vanlandingham presented expert testimony that Dr. Patton deviated from the standard of care in her case, and that his deviation from the standard of care proximately caused Ms. Vanlandingham's injuries. Likewise, Dr. Patton presented expert testimony that he did not deviate from the standard of care.

The issues in this appeal concern whether the trial judge should have excused two jurors for cause and whether the testimony of one of Dr. Patton's expert witnesses should have been struck.

В.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS IN THE COURT BELOW AND DURING THE PENDENCY OF THIS APPEAL

Ms. Vanlandingham filed her complaint in the Lafayette County Circuit Court on August 30, 2004. Extensive discovery was had by all parties and the case was tried in August, 2008, in Oxford, Mississippi. The jury returned a verdict in favor of the defendants.

Subsequent to the trial Ms. Vanlandingham filed a Motion For Judgment As A Matter Of Law, For Judgment Notwithstanding The Verdict, Or In The Alternative For A New Trial. The trial court overruled Ms. Vanlandingham's post trial motion.

C.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Early in 2003 Alice Vanlandingham, age fifty, suffered from pelvic pain and went to see Dr. Paul Odom, her personal physician of ten years. Dr. Odom referred her to Dr. Greg Patton, a specialist in gynecology and obstetrics. (Vol. III, 352-353) Dr. Patton tried various nonsurgical treatments, none of which relieved Ms. Vanlandingham's pain. (Vol. VI, pages 731-734) Dr. Patton recommend surgery to remove Ms. Vanlandingham's ovaries, which he believed to be the likely source of her pain, and to reduce significant pelvic adhesions. (Vol. VI, page 724)

Dr. Patton performed an exploratory laparotomy, a bilateral salpingooophorectomy, and lysis of adhesions on June 23, 2003, at Baptist Memorial Hospital in Oxford. (Vol. III, page 354; Vol. II, page 214) Because of her history of prior surgery Dr. Patton expected that he would encounter adhesions during the surgery he performed on Ms. Vanlandingham. (Vol. VI, pages 723-724) During the surgery Dr. Patton encountered dense pelvic adhesions. (Vol. II, page 215) Dr. Patton removed the right ovary and cleared it from its adhesion to the pelvic wall. (Vol. VII, page 741) Dr. Patton stated that the left ovary was completely obscured by the left descending colon. (Vol. VII, page 744) Through dissection the left ovary was freed of adhesions and was removed. (Vol. VII, page 746) Adhesions were removed from the wall of Ms. Vanlandingham's colon, which Dr. Patton described as abraded, or

lightly skinned as a result of the removal of the adhesions. Dr. Patton did not put any sutures into the colon (Vol. VII, page 755)

Ms. Vanlandingham was discharged from the hospital on June 27, 2003, and went home. (Vol. II, page 166) Within a matter of hours of her discharge Ms. Vanlandingham suffered excruciating pain and her family returned her to the hospital emergency room and she was readmitted to the hospital. (Vol. II, page 167-168)

Dr. Lovelace performed surgery on Ms. Vanlandingham on June 28, 2003, and found that her colon had perforated. (Vol. II, page 227) Ms. Vanlandingham developed peritonitis, and as a result got sepsis, and suffered from pulmonary failure which required the use of a respirator. Ms. Vanlandingham was given a colostomy and underwent surgery a year later to close the colostomy. (Vol. II, page 229) Ms. Vanlandingham was finally discharged from the hospital on September 23, 2003. (Vol. III, page 355) She also developed endocarditis, and infection in her heart (Vol. II, page 231) and underwent surgery in Memphis to replace a heart valve. Ms. Vanlandingham had a stormy recovery from her medical problems. (Vol. III, pages 356-357)

Dr. Patton agreed that Ms. Vanlandingham's peritonitis was occasioned by the perforation of her colon, which would not have occurred had she not undergone the June 23, 2003, surgery. (Vol. VII, page 756)

According to Ms. Vanlandingham's daughter and several other witnesses, Dr. Patton had a meeting with the family after Dr. Lovelace's surgery and told them that he had nicked her colon or scraped it too thin, and that the resulting perforation was his fault. (Vol. II, page 149). Dr. Patton denied that he told the family that the perforation of Ms. Vanlandingham's colon was his fault. (Vol. VI page 777)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review of the trial court's decision to deny a challenge to a juror for cause is abuse of discretion. *Parks v. State*, 853 So.2d 884, 887 (Miss. App. 2003); *Sewell v. State*, 721 So.2d 129 (Miss.1998).

The standard of review for the admission or exclusion of testimony, including expert testimony, is abuse of discretion. *Estate of Deiorio ex rel. Deiorio v. Pensacola Health Trust, Inc.*, 990 So.2d 804, 806 (Miss. App. 2008); *Hubbard v. Wansley*, 954 So.2d 951, 956 (Miss. 2007).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. The Circuit Court committed reversible error when it failed to excuse Juror number 27 and Juror number 26 from the venire for cause.
- A. By failing to excuse Juror number 27 and Juror number 26 from the venire for cause, the trial court denied Ms. Vanlandingham a trial by a jury which could render an impartial verdict.
- B. Every party has a right to a fair trial by an impartial jury, free of bias and prejudice, and the trial court must endeavor to empanel such a jury.
- C. Juror number 27 acknowledged that he and Dr. Patton's partner in medical practice had business relations, and that it might not be in his best financial interest to render a verdict against Dr. Patton. That acknowledgment rendered juror number 27 incompetent to serve on the trial jury.

- D. When the trial court failed to remove this clearly incompetent juror, Ms. Vanlandingham was forced to expend a peremptory challenge to exclude him.
- E. Juror number 26 worked part time for Internal Medicine Associates. Juror number 26's employer received business benefits from Dr. Patton through referrals of patients. That juror had an indirect financial interest through her employer which was calculated to influence her verdict, and should have been excused for cause.
- F. Juror number 26 served on the jury. Ms. Vanlandingham exhausted all peremptory challenges. It was unfair and unreasonable to require Ms. Vanlandingham to make an election as to which incompetent juror to exclude with her four peremptory challenges.
- 2. The Circuit Court committed reversible error by denying the Vanlandinghams' motion to strike the testimony of Dr. Steven Stain because his expert opinions were not based upon a reasonable medical probability or upon the applicable standard of care.
- A. Dr. Patton's expert Dr. Stain's opinions were not based upon a reasonable medical probability or upon the applicable standard of care.
- B. Dr. Stain's opinions, in deposition and at trial, are laced with such terms as "my guess", and a direct "I don't know" about whether Dr. Patton's failure to put sutures in the colon fell below the standard of care. This places his medical opinions in the category of speculation, thus failing to meet the standard for testimony by an expert witness.
- C. Though he testified that Dr. Patton followed the standard of care, Dr. Stain was unable to identify and articulate the requisite standard of care.

D. The trial judge abused his discretion in allowing the testimony of Dr. Stain after it became apparent that his opinions were not based upon a reasonable medical probability or upon the applicable standard of care, which he said he didn't know.

ARGUMENT

1. The Circuit Court committed reversible error when it failed to excuse Juror number 27 and Juror number 26 from the venire for cause.

By failing to excuse Juror #27 and Juror #26 from the venire for cause, the trial court denied Ms. Vanlandingham a trial by a jury which could render an impartial verdict. Every party has a right to a fair trial by an impartial jury, free of bias and prejudice, and the trial court must endeavor to empanel such a jury. In *Tighe v. Crosthwait*, 665 So.2d 1337, 1339 (Miss. 1995), the Supreme Court said:

Mississippi Constitution Article III, Section 31 states that "The right to a jury trial is an inviolate right." This Court has interpreted that provision to mean that: "It is the duty of the court to see that a competent, fair and impartial jury is empanelled." Stribling, 3 So.2d at 810; Marshall Durbin v. Tew, 381 So.2d 152, 154 (Miss.1980).

Jurors must go into the jury box with a mind free of bias or prejudice. While the trial judge cannot guarantee that a perfect trial jury is selected, it is his duty to make certain that the jury that is finally empanelled can render an impartial verdict. *Kimble v. State*, 920 So.2d 1058, 1060-1061 (Miss. App. 2006). In this case the lower court did not successfully insure the empanelling of such a jury through its failure to strike two members of the venire for cause.

A. <u>Juror Number 27</u>. Thomas Guest was juror number 27. The record reveals that juror number 27 had several real estate transactions with Dr. Glenn Hunt, a member of Defendant Oxford Obstetrics and Gynecology Associates, P.A., and Dr. Patton's partner in medical practice. Juror number 27 quite explicitly stated that it might not be in his best financial interest to render a verdict against Dr. Patton. That acknowledgment rendered juror

number 27 incompetent to serve on the trial jury. However, the trial court overruled Ms. Vanlandingham's challenge for cause.

The void dire of juror number 27 revealed the following:

Q: ... Okay. Dr. Glenn Hunt. Any of you know Dr. Hunt? ...

A: Tom Guest, number 27. I am in the real estate business and I have done business with Dr. Hunt.

Q: Would that relationship with Dr. Hunt if you had to find against Dr. Patton in this case, would you feel like if you saw him you would have to explain why you did what you did?

A: "I feel like I could be fair but I feel like it would cost me some business in the future if I ruled against him but I feel like I could be fair." (R. Vol. I, pages 67-68) (Emphasis supplied)

During voir dire the trial judge evidently agreed that Mr. Guest should be struck for cause:

Q Juror 27. Mr. Guest. I think you have already told us that you -- is that correct, your Honor, on juror 27?

By the Court: You need not pursue that. (R. Vol. I, page 74)

Later, Ms. Vanlandingham's counsel challenged juror 27 for cause:

By Mr. Lancaster: Your Honor, the next challenge for cause . . . number 27, Mr. Guest. You know. I was asking him. And he said he had financial interest and you told me I could stop I didn't have to go any further.

By the Court: Yes. He said that he had - - he is not the one.

By Mr. Lancaster: He is real estate agent that it would cause him some business. He said he dealt with Dr. Patton. And the court remembers that I turned around to the court and you said I didn't have to develop any further.

By Mr. Williams: I seem to recall it and we would object to that challenge for cause. What Mr. Guest says is what you would expect any good potential juror to say. He said he had done business with Dr. Hunt at some point in the past. That was never developed as to when that might have been. That he would be fair and then on the side if it cost me some business.

By Mr. Lancaster: He said it might cost me some business. That is a financial interest in the outcome, your Honor. Now how much more bias can you have. A financial interest.

By the Court: The way I understand the gentleman was he said I'm going to be fair even if it cost me some business even.

By Mr. Montgomery: I would request the court to voir dire him and let's clear that up.

By the Court: All right. Well I'm going to overrule that challenge and he will be staying in the pool. All right. Next please. (R. Vol. I, pages 96-97)

During voir dire Ms. Vanlandingham's counsel pointed out that Dr. Glenn Hunt has a financial interest in the Oxford Obstetrics and Gynecology Associates, P.A., and was, by virtue of that business relation, a quasi-defendant with Dr. Patton for the purposes of selecting a jury. (R. Vol. I, page 93, line 24 – page 94, line 73) Defendants' Response In Opposition To Motion For Judgment As A Matter Of Law acknowledged that Dr. Glenn Hunt was one of Dr. Patton's partners and that juror 27 worked with him on several real estate transactions. (Clerk's papers, pages 192-193)

In *Berbette v. State*, 109 Miss. 94, 67 So. 853,854 (1915), the Supreme Court clearly stated the law which applies to a juror who has a potentially conflicting business interest:

It is the purpose of the law to provide as jurors men who are fair and impartial and free from bias or prejudice. It has been held that one who is in the employee of a party to a suit is incompetent as a juror. The existence of any business relation between the one offered as a juror and one of the parties in interest which might be calculated to influence his verdict is sufficient to render such person incompetent to serve as a juror.

Berbette, supra, was cited with approval in Overing v. Skrmetta, 218 Miss. 648, 67 So.2d 606, 609 (1953), in which the Court went a bit further, stating, "[T]he existence between a prof-

fered juror and a party to a suit of business relations which might be calculated to influence his verdict is sufficient to disqualify the juror."

It is, of course, true that Dr. Glenn Hunt, with whom juror 27 had several real estate transactions, was not directly a litigant in this case – no claim was made against him individually. However, in characterizing his business relations with Dr. Hunt, Mr. Guest unequivocally declared that in ruling against Dr. Patton, "[I] feel like it would cost me some business in the future." Mr. Guest was concerned that his holding adversely for Dr. Patton in the lawsuit might cost him some money. That is an interest which without doubt would be calculated to influence his verdict. Mr. Guest's statement rendered him incompetent to serve as a juror and the trial judge should have sustained the challenge for cause.

At the time of voir dire the record reveals that Ms. Vanlandingham's counsel believed that the trial judge also understood that juror number 27 was not competent to serve on the jury when the judge advised counsel that he "need not pursue" further inquiry into the matter. (R. Vol. I, page 74) When counsel realized that the trial judge had changed his mind about juror 27, counsel requested that the court perform additional voir dire on juror 27 to clear up the issue. The trial judge declined to do so and overruled the challenge of juror number 27 for cause. (R. Vol. I, page 97) Consequently, Ms. Vanlandingham was forced to use one of her few peremptory challenges to exclude this incompetent juror from the jury. (R. Vol. I, page 103, lines 15-18)

In *Fleming v. State*, 732 So.2d 172, 181 (Miss. 1999) the defense challenged a juror for cause because she was related to a witness for the State. When the trial judge declined to exclude the juror for cause, the defense used a peremptory challenge to remove her from the jury and then proceeded to exhaust all of its peremptory challenges. The Court fully appre-

ciated the injustice which results when a party is forced to use a peremptory challenge to prevent an incompetent juror from being empanelled:

[S]uch cases fail to grasp the full ambit of the potential harm that may stem from a trial court's failure to grant a causal challenge. Indeed, it matters not when the peremptory challenges are used, because the expected loss of a peremptory challenge leaves the party wishing to otherwise utilize such a challenge with one less opportunity to strategically try its case. Chisolm, Mettetal, and their progeny are extended such that they are met when there is at least (1) all peremptory challenges but the challenge at issue or the simple use of the peremptory challenge at issue, and (2) any incompetent juror sits. Indeed, it does not matter whether the venire member at issue had such a high venire number that it was questionable the venire member would be challenged, nor does it matter that the venire member was the first or last to be peremptorily challenged. It simply matters that a party's right to use peremptory challenges has been limited by the trial court's failure to remove for an incompetent juror. (Emphasis supplied)

The trial Court should have excluded juror number 27 for cause because he had a business interest with Dr. Patton's partner and openly stated that a verdict adverse to Dr. Patton could cost him some business. The lower court's failure to remove this clearly incompetent juror resulted in Ms. Vanlandingham's loss of a precious peremptory challenge.

B. <u>Juror number 26</u>. Lisa Daniels, juror number 26, worked part time for Internal Medicine Associates. Dr. Patton referred Ms. Vanlandingham to Dr. Charles Hill, an internist with that group, prior to her June 23, 2003, surgery to evaluate whether or not she had any condition or problem that would necessitate postponing or foregoing the surgery. (Clerk's papers, page. 192) Juror number 26's employer received business benefits from Dr. Patton through referrals. The juror, therefor, had an indirect financial interest through her employer which was calculated to influence her verdict, and should have been excused for cause.

The voir dire examination of juror number 26 proceeded thus:

Q: What is your connection to either doctor, hospital, or health care?

A: I work on PRN basis for internal medicine and associates.

Q: A clinic here?

A: A clinic here.

Q: Do you have any contact with Dr. Patton or his client?

A: No

Q: Do you get referrals from his [Mr. Williams'] client?

A: Yes

Q: Does your clinic do referrals to Dr. Patton and his clinic?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: Would the fact that you are with that clinic and your clinic works closely with his clinic and his clinic with you, would that cause you to tend to believe Dr. Patton's testimony over someone else's testimony?

A. No.

Q: You think you could set aside that and be fair and impartial?

A: Yes (R. Vol. I, pp 53-54)

Dr. Patton refers patients to juror number 26's employer, resulting in income to it, and that same employer refers patients to Dt. Patton, resulting in income to him. It is beyond peradventure that referrals among and between physicians is an important source of patients – and income. The business relation between juror number 26's employer and Dr. Patton is enough to influence her verdict, and is sufficient to render juror number 26 incompetent to serve as a trial juror. *Berbette v. State, supra.* Unlike juror number 27, juror number 26 served on the trial jury. (R. Vol. I, page 105 lines 20-28) Ms. Vanlandingham did not remove juror number 26 with a peremptory challenge. The fact that the trial judge failed to

exclude her for cause required Ms. Vanlandingham to make an election as to which incompetent juror to exclude with her limited number of peremptory challenges.

In a civil case each party may exercise only four peremptory challenges. Rule 47(c), M.R.C.P. In this case Ms. Vanlandingham exhausted all of her peremptory challenges. (R. Vol. I, page 103, lines 15-18) In light of the minimum number of peremptory challenges available to a party, using them to remove incompetent jurors which the court should have removed for cause is unacceptable.

It is conceded that the trial court has broad discretion to determine whether to excuse prospective jurors who are challenged for cause. *Adkins v. Sanders*, 871 So.2d 732, 742 (Miss. 2004) But that discretion is not unfettered. The circuit judge has an absolute duty to see that the jury selected to try any case is fair, impartial and competent. "Trial judges must scrupulously guard the impartiality of the jury and take corrective measures to insure an unbiased jury." *Hudson v. Taleff*, 546 So.2d 359. 363 (Miss. 1989), quoted with approval in *Brown By and Through Webb v. Blackwood*, 697 So.2d 763, 769 (Miss. 1997).

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