IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE # 2008-CA-01994

ALICE VANLANDINGHAM

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

GREGORY PATTON, M.D. AND OXFORD OBSTETRICS AND GYNECOLOGY ASSOCIATES, P.A. DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAFAYETTE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES GREGORY PATTON, M.D. AND OXFORD OBSTETRICS AND GYNECOLOGY ASSOCIATES, P.A.

> CLINTON M. GUENTHER, MB# UPSHAW, WILLIAMS, BIGGERS, BECKHAM & RIDDICK, LLP POST OFFICE DRAWER 8230 GREENWOOD, MISSISSIPPI 38935-8230 TELEPHONE: (662) 455-1613 FACSIMILE: (662) 455-7884

> COUNSEL FOR DEFENDANTS/ APPELLEES, GREGORY PATTON, M.D. AND OXFORD OBSTETRICS AND GYNECOLOGY ASSOCIATES, P.A.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
STANDARD OF REVIEW
ARGUMENT
1. The trial court did not commit error by refusing to strike for cause Juror 27, Thomas Guest, and Juror 26, Lisa Daniels
2. The trial court did not commit error by refusing to strike the testimony of Dr. Patton's expert witness, Dr. Steven Stain, whose opinions were individually, and particularly when taken as a whole, expressed as being based upon a reasonable medical probability and upon the applicable standard of care
3. Plaintiff's Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law/for JNOV, or in the Alternative, Motion for New Trial were appropriately denied2
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE3'
CERTIFICATE OF FILING3

Prudential Ins. Co. of America v. Stewart, 969 So.2d 17 (Miss. 2007)
Scott v. Ball, 595 So.2d 848, 850 (Miss. 1992)
Sutherland's Lumber & Home Center v. Whittington, 878 So.2d 80 (Miss. App. 2003) 24
Venton v. Beckham, 845 So.2d 676, 684 ¶ 26 (Miss. 2003)
Washington Mutual Finance Group, LLC v. Blackmon, 925 So.2d 780 (Miss. 2004) 10
West v. Sanders Clinic for Women, P.A., 661 So.2d 714, 720 (Miss. 1995)
White v. Yellow Freight System, Inc., 905 So.2d 506 (Miss. 2004)

APPELLEES' NOTE TO THE COURT

References	herein are as follows:
TT.	: to Trial Transcript
DRI	E: to Defendants'/Appellees' Record Excerpts
Арр	Br: to Plaintiff's/Appellant's Brief

i.

ί.,

i.

ì

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Prior to the spring of 2003, Plaintiff, Alice Vanlandingham, had had several abdominal surgeries, plus grafts for claudication/peripheral vascular disease. As a result of those surgeries, she had developed significant abdominal scar tissue, called adhesions, also known as pelvic adhesive disease, a condition in which scar tissue binds adjacent organs to each other. As a result of those adhesions, in early 2003 she began to experience such significant pelvic pain that it interfered with her work and married life. She was referred by her family physician to Dr. Gregory Patton, an OB/GYN in Oxford, Mississippi. After Dr. Patton tried treating Vanlandingham's pelvic pain conservatively with medical/non-surgical treatment, which proved unsuccessful, on the morning of June 23, 2003, Dr. Patton performed an operation to remove Vanlandingham's ovaries and to reduce her significant pelvic adhesions.

During the surgery, Dr. Patton found that scar tissue from her prior surgeries had adhered to an ovary and to the wall of her sigmoid colon. In removing the ovary and the adhesions from the colon wall, the outer portion of the wall of the colon - the serosa - was abraided or scraped, an unavoidable consequence of removing the ovary and the adhesions from the colon wall. However, Dr. Patton found no wound to or hole in the colon wall, or any other injury to the colon that required sutures. There was also no clinical evidence, such as bleeding or spillage of bowel contents, that indicated the need for surgical repair of the colon. On the evening of June 27, 2003, more than four days after her surgery, Mrs. Vanlandingham was discharged from the hospital, having made a good recovery. Later that evening, while at home, she very suddenly became very ill, after which it was discovered that she had a perforated colon, which resulted in peritonitis and numerous subsequent medical complications over the next several weeks.

Mrs. Vanlandingham sued Dr. Patton and his clinic for medical negligence, claiming that Dr.

Patton did not properly or adequately inspect her colon before he closed the surgery; and that if he had, he would have seen that her colon needed surgical attention, specifically the placement of sutures in the colon wall. She alleged that sutures would have prevented her colon from perforating, thereby preventing her other complications and alleged damages and injury. Dr. Patton responded that he did properly inspect the colon before closing surgery, and determined that there was no indication for surgical repair of her colon, that the abrasion would heal. Dr. Patton also responded that in all respects of his care and treatment of Vanlandingham, he complied with the applicable standard of care; and, therefore, that he did nothing to cause or contribute to Vanlandingham's perforated colon, peritonitis and subsequent medical complications.

At trial, Dr. Patton produced three highly qualified, board certified expert witnesses, two obstetrician/gynecologists and one surgeon, who testified that Dr. Patton complied with the applicable standard of care, as annunciated in *Hall v. Hilbun*, 466 So.2d 856 (Miss. 1985); that at the completion of Mrs. Vanlandingham's surgery on June 23, 2003, Dr. Patton had no indication that Mrs. Vanlandingham required further surgical attention; and, accordingly, that Dr. Patton did nothing to cause or contribute to Plaintiff's perforated colon and subsequent medical complications.

After a week's worth of testimony, eleven of the twelve jurors returned a verdict in favor of Dr. Patton and his clinic. Following entry of the jury verdict, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law, Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or, in the Alternative, a Motion for a New Trial. Upon denial of those motions, Plaintiff perfected her appeal. From those post-trial motions, Plaintiff has refined her argument to contend that the trial judge committed reversible error when he failed to excuse two jurors for cause, and when he did not grant Plaintiff's motion to strike the testimony of one of Defendants' expert witnesses.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not commit error when it did not strike for cause the two jurors about whom Plaintiff complains. Plaintiff's argument about those jurors is that each juror had a financial interest in the outcome of the case, such that they could not be fair and impartial. Not only is there no evidence that either juror had any financial interest in the outcome of the case, both jurors testified under oath, unequivocally, and more than once, that they could and would be fair and impartial. In addition, Plaintiff exercised three of her four peremptory challenges on three jurors that she did not challenge for cause.

The trial court also committed no error when it denied Plaintiff's motion to strike, in its entirety, the testimony of Defendants' expert witness, Dr. Steven Stain, a board certified surgeon, and the Chair of the American Board of Surgery. Plaintiff has "cherry picked" only snippets from one hundred pages of Dr. Stain's trial testimony, which she erroneously claims justify the exclusion of everything Dr. Stain testified at trial. Dr. Stain's testimony and opinions regarding the standard of care and causation were unquestionably stated in terms of reasonable medical probability, not only as specifically stated numerous individual times, but certainly when his testimony is taken as a whole.

Not only was no error committed with regard to juror selection or expert testimony, there was overwhelming evidence to support the jury's verdict, thus also clearly supporting the trial court's denial of Plaintiff's post-trial motions. Plaintiff received a trial by a fair and impartial jury, and there was no abuse of discretion by the trial judge. No reversible error was committed, and there is no basis to overturn the jury's verdict in this case.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review of a trial court's decision to deny a challenge to a juror for cause is one of abuse of discretion, but also one which requires a showing of a clear abuse of discretion. "The selection of jurors is a 'judgment call peculiarly within the province of the Circuit Judge, and one we will not on appeal second guess in the absence of a record showing a **clear** abuse of discretion.' ...This Court is required to reverse the trial court when this Court **clearly** is of the opinion that a juror was not competent." *Adkins v. Sanders*, 871 So.2d 732, 740 ¶ 31 (Miss. 2004) (citations omitted) (**Emphasis** added). *See* also *Scott v. Ball*, 595 So.2d 848, 850 (Miss. 1992).

Abuse of discretion is also the standard by which a trial judge's decision to admit expert testimony is reviewed. The trial judge's decision will stand, unless the appellate court determines that the judge's decision was "arbitrary and **clearly** erroneous". *Kidd v. McRae's Stores Partnership*, 951 So.2d 622, 626, ¶ 17 (Miss. App. 2007). (Citations omitted). (**Emphasis** added).

A motion for a new trial should be granted only if the jury's verdict is contrary to the law or against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Likewise, the appellate court should not overturn the trial court's denial of a motion for a new trial unless the trial judge has abused his discretion. All of the evidence supporting the verdict must be examined as true. The appellate court utilizes an abuse of discretion standard when reviewing the trial court's evidentiary rulings; and in order to reverse the case upon the admission or exclusion of evidence, the trial court's ruling must have resulted not only in prejudice, it must have adversely affected a substantial right of the aggrieved party. "Thus, not only must the trial judge abuse his discretion, the harm must be severe enough to harm a party's substantial right." *Brandon HMA, Inc. v. Bradshaw*, 809 So.2d 611, 617 ¶ 18, 618 ¶ 21 (Miss. 2002).

ARGUMENT

1. The trial court did not commit error by refusing to strike for cause Juror 27, Thomas Guest, and Juror 26, Lisa Daniels.

Plaintiff contends that Juror No. 27, Thomas Guest, and Juror No. 26, Lisa Daniels, should have been excused for cause because of their [alleged] "financial interest" in the outcome of the case. Since Plaintiff obviously did not want either Mr. Guest or Ms. Daniels to serve on the jury, she contends she was "forced" to save a peremptory challenge and choose between those two jurors as upon which of them she would exercise that peremptory challenge. Implicit in her argument, of course, is that she should not have had to have chosen between either juror, since she contends both jurors should have been struck for cause, allowing her to use a peremptory challenge on another juror. As such, Vanlandingham claims she was not afforded an opportunity to choose a fair and impartial jury.

Addressing the two jurors in the order in which Plaintiff addresses them in her brief, Defendants first consider Juror No. 27, Thomas Guest, and why the trial court did not commit error in not dismissing Mr. Guest for cause.

Plaintiff contends that Mr. Guest should have been excluded from the jury because of an alleged "financial interest" that Guest had in the outcome of the trial. At pages 8 and 11 of her brief, Vanlandingham states that Mr. Guest had "had several real estate transactions" (Emphasis added) with Dr. Glenn Hunt, Dr. Patton's partner (App Br 8, 11); however, the record does not reveal that. When counsel for Vanlandingham voir dired the jury and asked if anyone knew Dr. Hunt, Mr. Guest replied, "I am in the real estate business, and I have done business with Dr. Hunt." (TT 67/DRE 3). Vanlandingham's counsel did not inquire further, nor did Mr. Guest volunteer information, about what type of "business" Guest had done with Dr. Hunt, how much business, how often, or how

recently/long ago. Vanlandingham may infer or assume that Guest had done real estate business with Dr. Hunt, but Guest never said that. He specifically never said that he had had "several real estate transactions" with Dr. Hunt. (Emphasis added).

Next, Vanlandingham's counsel asked Guest that if Guest were to be chosen as a juror and were to find against Dr. Patton, would Guest feel like he would have to explain his vote to Dr. Hunt (or Dr. Patton). Guest replied, "I feel like I could be fair, but I feel like it would cost me some business in the future if I ruled against him, but I feel like I could be fair." (TT 67-68/DRE 3-4) (Emphasis added). Not once but twice Guest acknowledged that even though he felt like it could "cost him some business in the future", he nevertheless could be fair; he would perform his duty as an impartial juror.

The two cases cited by Plaintiff in her brief in support of her argument that Mr. Guest had a financial interest in the outcome of the case are as inapplicable to Mr. Guest as are Plaintiff's arguments. In *Berbette v. State*, 109 Miss. 94, 67 So.853 (1915), a juror was challenged by the appellant on the ground that the juror was an [actual] employee of the electric company from which the appellant had been charged with stealing. That is, in *Berbette*, the juror in question had not just "done business" with a party in interest, the juror was an actual "bona fide" employee of a party to the law suit. Not only was Guest not an employee of Dr. Patton (or of Dr. Hunt), the person with whom Guest had "done business" was not Dr. Patton. Plaintiff acknowledges that Dr. Hunt was "not directly a litigant in this case" and was someone against whom "no claim was made...individually." (App Br 11). Those outcome-determinative distinctions render *Berbette* of no support to Plaintiff's argument.

The second case cited by Plaintiff, *Overing v. Skrmetta*, 318 Miss. 648, 67 So.2d 606 (1953), is actually supportive not of Plaintiff's argument, but of Defendants'. On voir dire in *Skrmetta*, the

juror in question was asked by the plaintiff's counsel if he had ever worked for the defendants or any member of their family. The juror replied that he had worked for "Mrs. Skrmetta" when he had floored a building for her. In citing *Berbette v. State*, above, the *Skrmetta* court recognized that an employee of a party to a suit is incompetent to serve as a juror. However, they found that based upon the juror's testimony during voir dire, the juror in question was not regularly employed by "Mrs. Skrmetta", and that there was not even a "Mrs. Skrmetta" who was a party defendant to the suit. As such, the Court ruled that there was no error in allowing that juror to remain in the panel. In Dr. Patton's case, like the juror in *Skrmetta*, Mr. Guest was not an employee of Dr. Patton (or Dr. Hunt), and the business Guest had done was with Dr. Hunt, who was not a party to the lawsuit.

Plaintiff also takes an interpretive liberty with Mr. Guest's testimony when, at page 11 of her brief, she states that "Mr. Guest was concerned that his holding adversely for Dr. Patton in the lawsuit might cost him some money. That is an interest which, without doubt, would be calculated to influence his verdict." (App Br 11) First, Mr. Guest never stated that he was "concerned" about possibly losing future business. Next, just as Judge Lackey rightly recognized, that is only Plaintiff's interpretation of Mr. Guest's testimony. Judge Lackey understood Guest to mean that he could be fair, even if it did cost him some business in the future - not that Guest was concerned that it might cost him some future business. (TT 96/DRE 6). If, in fact, Mr. Guest was that "concerned", then he certainly appears to have laid that concern aside when he twice said that even if it cost him some future business, "...I feel like I could be fair." (TT 67-68/DRE 3-4).

Mr. Guest's having "done business" with Dr. Hunt, who was not a party to the lawsuit, does not square with either case cited by Plaintiff in support of her argument that Guest had any financial interest or conflicting business interest which should have caused him to have been excluded from the jury panel. Mr. Guest's comment was also speculative in nature, made with regard to the future,

and it was devoid of any evidence (or even any suggestion) that any such future "business" (whatever that might be) was of any substantial nature or significant financial interest to Mr. Guest.

Plaintiff's argument about Juror No. 26, Lisa Daniels, is also based upon nothing more than [just] Plaintiff's loosely woven theory, certainly not any credible evidence, that Ms. Daniels had a financial interest in the outcome of the case. In her brief, at page 12, even Vanlandingham characterizes Daniels' alleged interest as "an **indirect** financial interest." (App Br 12) (**Emphasis** added). Yet Ms. Daniels also was not an employee of Dr. Patton, and she testified that she did not have any contact with Dr. Patton or his clinic. (TT 53/DRE 1).

Although Daniels acknowledged that the clinic for which she worked part-time did get referrals from Dr. Patton's clinic, and vice versa, to accept Plaintiff's argument that Daniels, who was [only] a PRN ("as needed") part-time employee of another clinic had a "business relationship" with Dr. Patton and/or his clinic, which thereby constituted a "financial interest" in the trial's outcome, is a totally unsubstantiated assertion that requires a quantum leap in reasoning.

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